Cabinets and Companies

Testing the Limits of the State

Numerous colonization enterprises launched or consolidated their oper-
ations in the 1850s. Two among them stood out due to the sheer ambition
of their efforts to recruit, transport, and settle foreign migrants: the
Mucury Company, originally established in 1847, and the Associagio
Central de Colonizacio (Central Colonization Association, hereafter
ACC), founded in 1854. Both shared an interest in wide-ranging peopling
projects and in record-shattering profits. Both also depended on govern-
ment subsidies as their financial lifeline. They even shared members across
their rosters, which signaled a growing enthusiasm for corporate colon-
ization that transcended political inclinations. Yet the commonalities
stopped where these companies’distinct ends began. As a private corpor-
ation bankrolled by the central government and captained by a trusted
apparatchik of the imperial bureaucracy, the ACC sought to define itself
as the leading colono supplier of the day with its base of operations in
Rio. Mucury, in turn, was the brainchild of a liberal firebrand from Minas
Gerais, Te6filo Ottoni, who sought to people and economically jumpstart
a politically strategic corner of his home province by opening river access
to the Atlantic. To enact their programs, both companies confronted
logistical and political barriers that the new cabinet organized at the
emperor’s behest in 1857 tried to remediate in numerous if often
questionable ways.

All the while, patrons’ abuses and colono mutinies fed into growing
denunciations of a “white slavery” that imperiled the integrity of these
and other companies’ operations. Despite scandals, however, company
favor requests continued to stream onto the desk of the new prime
minister, Pedro de Aratjo Lima, known as the marqués de Olinda after
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188 Disentangling Companies and State

obtaining his highest noble title in 1854. As the two most prominent
company drives at the time, the ACC and Mucury hauled in problems
with a high level of public exposure that compromised the Brazilian
government due to its direct aid to both enterprises. The situation thus
forced the new cabinet to a reckoning with its own possibilities and
limitations in responding to an urgent and multifaceted conundrum.
Indeed, Olinda found himself at multiple crossroads at once. One of the
dilemmas arising from this scenario obligated him to choose which com-
panies to favor and to what extent. Another involved deciding whether to
give in to international recriminations against these companies’ colono
recruitments or to defend them against accusations of malfeasance, fraud,
and egregious mistreatment of colonos.

In the background, a more familiar quandary lurked: as the unwitting
heir to the marqués de Parana and the cabinet he led from 1853 to his
death in 1856, Olinda was expected to continue with the improvements
expected by the emperor but also with a politics of conciliacdo (concili-
ation) that laid to rest the partisan animosities of the previous decade.”
Parand had sternly overseen a political turn toward decreased partisan-
ship against the wishes of his fellow saquaremas. No less conservative,
Olinda inherited the mantle of conciliation and its calling to preserve a
tenuous peace but also a host of divisive questions left unresolved by
Parand, including whether the state should intervene directly in economic
and development affairs rather than promote them from a distance. This
question indicted the prior cabinet’s twin pillars of improvement and
conciliation, and now colonization companies’ travails inevitably foisted
it upon Olinda. Olinda’s ministry remains a historiographical lacuna in
many respects — relatively brief at one year and seven months, it was
overshadowed both by the conciliacio and by the magnitude of other
events, including the Panic of 1857 and the Paraguayan War
(1864-1870). Olinda’s attitudes and actions also resist easy categoriza-
tion. Even though in 1837 he had commanded the reactionaries’
Regresso, he now spearheaded a heterogeneous cabinet that even included
a liberal in the Finance portfolio.

' On conciliagdo, see Roderick Barman, Citizen Emperor: Pedro Il and the Making of
Brazil, 1825-1891 (Stanford: Stanford University Press, 1999), 162-1725 Jeffrey
Needell, The Party of Order: The Conservatives, the State, and Slavery in the Brazilian
Monarchy, 1831-1871 (Stanford: Stanford University Press, 2006), 163—175; Bruno
Fabris Estefanes, Conciliar o Império: O marqués de Parand e a politica imperial (Sio
Paulo: Annablume, 2013).
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Cabinets and Companies 189

Colonization illuminates the blind spots surrounding Olinda’s prem-
iership, as bourgeoning company drives forced colonization to the top of
his agenda. Moreover, by design as well as accident, colonization trans-
formed Olinda into the quintessential regulator and consolidated the
Brazilian government’s oversight attributions over colonization com-
panies. As such, Olinda betrays an important paradigm shift in the
development of the Brazilian state. If, as an 4ulico in the 1840s he had
traced the lineaments of a robust regulatory state in relation to coloniza-
tion, the ACC, Mucury, and their tribulations only strengthened his
regulatory veer. Yet they also opened the door to a more opportunistic
state, as Olinda understood official backing as a tool to cut losses as much
as to preempt political challenges.

Hence, this chapter examines the launch of two dashing new coloniza-
tion companies, the innovations in their midst, and the political predica-
ments — and calculations — they gave rise to. Mucury and the ACC
possessed a new edge in terms of the nature and scale of their endeavors
as much as in their internal organization and operations, which renovated
politicians’ and businessmen’s expectations regarding the promises of
colonization companies.* Looking past their excited emergence quickly
uncovers the innumerable complications these companies dregdged up.
Their political underpinnings and their respective relationships to govern-
ment reveal the tensions between company runs and cabinet imperatives,
and shed light on how these companies’ future and Olinda’s politics were
mutually constitutive. The ACC’s and Mucury’s trajectories demonstrate
that political concerns were never too far from the surface of colonization
company activities, which inevitably brought myriad diplomatic troubles
in their wake. Yet those seemingly faulty tendencies played a crucial role
in stoking government action, ultimately compelling Olinda to embody a
forceful, if later politically opportunistic, regulatory swerve.

* For two studies on some business aspects of the ACC’s and Mucury’s activities, see Maria
Isabel de Jesus Chrysostomo and Laurent Vidal, “Une histoire oubliée: L’Association
Centrale de Colonisation de Rio de Janeiro et la marchandisation de l’emigration
européenne (1857-1865),” in La migration européenne aux Amériques: pour un dialogue
entre histoire et littérature, ed. Didier Poton, Micéala Symington, and Laurent Vidal
(Rennes: Presses Universitaires de Rennes, 2012), 23-39; and Maria Cristina Nunes
Ferreira Neto, “Autobiografia, ‘conciliacdo’ e concessdes: A Companhia do Mucuri e o
projeto de colonizagio de Theophilo Ottoni,” in Monarquia, Liberalismo e Negdcios no
Brasil: 1780-1860, ed. Izabel Andrade Marson and Cecilia de Salles Oliveira (Sdo Paulo:
Edusp, 2013), 277-312.

Downloaded from https://www.cambridge.org/core. IP address: 13.201.136.108, on 14 Oct 2025 at 07:26:19, subject to the Cambridge Core terms of
use, available at https://www.cambridge.org/core/terms. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009281874.011


https://www.cambridge.org/core/terms
https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009281874.011
https://www.cambridge.org/core

190 Disentangling Companies and State

THE MUCURY COMPANY,
OR COLONIZATION AS A POLITICAL GAMBLE

The notorious exaltado deputy Tedfilo Ottoni stepped back from politics
at the tail end of the so-called Liberal quinquennium (1844-1848), tired
of the reformist timidity of successive liberal-moderate cabinets.?> Ottoni
had not become a radical overnight. As the first of eleven children, and a
third-generation descendant of a Genoese exile who settled in Minas in
the 1720s, Teodfilo came of age in the Vila do Principe, where he and his
brothers learned Latin and read the hallmarks of classical republicanism.
In 1828, he graduated at the top of his class from the Navy Academy in
Rio, while living with his uncle, a Romantic poet and veteran deputy of
the Lisbon Courts, and mingling with journalist Evaristo da Veiga and
then-moderate Vasconcelos. Then, as an official vote counter in the 1828
elections, Ottoni had the gall to fine the War minister for an apparent
breach. In retribution, he received orders to station in Africa or the
Amazon but opted instead to abandon the Navy and return to his home-
town, where in 1832 he set up the Sentinella do Serro, a newspaper
guided by republican and democratic principles, and a political associ-
ation, the Sociedade Promotora do Bem Publico. Elected to the new
provincial assembly in 1835, and to the Chamber of Deputies in 1839,
Ottoni joined a secret society organized by Antdnio Carlos de Andrada
and went on to spearhead the liberal uprising of 1842 in Minas.* He was
soon imprisoned and condemned for insurrection, but his sentence was
commuted by the general amnesty of 1844. Ottoni then rushed back into
the Chamber as part of a liberal comeback but by 1847 became
deeply disillusioned.’

Ottoni may have sensed conservatives’ impending return when he
poured his energies into the Mucury Navigation and Colonization
Company, and so his turn to colonization did not represent a political
capitulation but rather a voyage deeper into politics. The new company
primarily aimed to open river access to the northern regions of Minas
Gerais, but colonization soon became its principal remit. The company’s
peopling activities could have important electoral repercussions. The

3 Needell, Party of Order, 109-111. 4 O Brasil, nos. 130, 143 (18 May, 22 June 1841).

5 José Antonio Marinho, Histéria do movimento politico que no anno de 1842 teve lugar na
provincia de Minas Geraes, 2 vols. (Rio de Janeiro: Typographia de J. E. S. Cabral, 1844);
Erik Horner, Até os limites da politica: A “revolucdo liberal” de 1842 em Sdo Paulo e
Minas Gerais (Sao Paulo: Alameda, 2014).
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Cabinets and Companies 191

districts where Mucury operated already contained a large population
hovering around 411,309, most of it free according to Ottoni.
A demographic uptick by means of “a great number of emigrants and
colonos” could potentially deliver new voters, particularly after the 1846
electoral reform established property qualifications of as little as 200$ for
votantes, or first-round voters (those who voted for “second-round”
electors but could still vote for councilmen and local judges), which meant
that colonos could qualify once they naturalized.® This voter increase
would technically help Ottoni carve out a new province in northern
Minas and improve his chances for representation at the Court.”
Ultimately, Ottoni aimed at a landslide victory over conservative provin-
cial antagonists to upset the balance of representation in the imperial
legislature.

To begin, Ottoni rekindled provincial ties long cultivated by his family
in a region adrift from influential mineiros at the Court. Close relatives
hopped into action. While his brother Cristiano ran for the Chamber to
keep a political lifeline, cousin Hondrio Esteves provided practical intelli-
gence as director of Indians in the Mucuri region and as provincial
commissioner appointed to study river navigation in 1846. Another
cousin who was a councilman in Minas Novas connected Ottoni to a
regional elite vying for the creation of a new province. When Ottoni
opened the first subscriptions, his family snatched 577 of 1,000 available
shares, that is, 58 percent of the Company’s initial public offering, with
regional elites taking the rest together with prestigious backers like the
liberal tycoon visconde de Maud, the second largest subscriber after
Ottoni.® With its start-up capital secured, the Mucury Company obtained
imperial and provincial contracts on May and August 1847. Ottoni then
launched expeditions on the Mucuri river to render a clear idea of rapids
and unnavigable portions in its course, discovering that steamships could
only reach up to the very first waterfall. This transfer point, Santa Clara,
was 22 leagues distant from Minas Novas but still offered a better option

Teofilo Ottoni, Companhbia do Mucury. Histéria da empresa. Importancia dos seus
privilégios. Alcance de seus projectos (Rio de Janeiro: J. Villeneuve e Comp.,
1856), 9-14.

7 On plans for a new province in northern Minas, see Juliana Pereira Ramalho, “Minas
Novas: Um projeto de provincia nos sertdes — povoamento e concentragio fundidria na
freguesia de Sio Pedro do Fanado (1834-1857)” (PhD diss., Universidade Federal de
Ouro Preto, 2018).

Relatério do presidente da provincia MG (1847), 44—46; Ramalho, “Minas
Novas,” 122-186.
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192 Disentangling Companies and State

than the 160-180 leagues of mule-pack trails separating Minas Novas
from the Court. Indeed, investors remained enthusiastic about making the
Mucuri “rich and populated.” Within weeks, speculators and planters
from across the province hastily and informally claimed lands by posse,
grabbing the most profitable locations along the projected commercial
thoroughfare after the press trumpeted “the immense profits” that
awaited the Mucury Company.’

Ottoni thrived amid recurrent challenges. Despite the new conservative
ministry of 1848 (which, nonetheless, included colonization-friendly fig-
ures like Monte Alegre and Olinda) and the fraudulent 1849 elections
abetted by the central government, Ottoni secured a two-year extension
to meet some of his contractual obligations from a lame-duck provincial
assembly. But in 1850, the incoming president tried to sabotage him,
authorizing the province to become the leading shareholder by purchasing
1,000 shares. In 1854, the provincial assembly finally authorized the
credit necessary for Minas to purchase shares and effectively become the
new majority shareholder. As such, the provincial government demanded
a drastic increase in the maximum votes allowed for any single share-
holder, changing the ceiling from the prior limit of 6-40 votes in what
amounted to a corporate takeover.

Yet the change freed Ottoni to focus on his management role and
continue attending to the trouble-plagued roadworks from Santa Clara
to the Mucuri tributary of Todos os Santos. The first Portuguese workers
brought from Rio either deserted or fell ill, and the Polish engineer and
recruiter hired by Ottoni was killed. Ottoni carried on, pressing his
brother on surveying activities and accelerating transport between Rio
and the Sio José port on the Mucuri delta, a 30-hour trip that could be
delayed by up to 30 days by stopovers in nearby Caravelas. When the
imperial government offered an 18-conto subsidy for a navigation line to
Espirito Santo, Ottoni sat on the Praca do Comércio’s special commission
examining bids and successfully offered his own, aiming for the subven-
tion even if his ships would have to stop in Vitoria before docking at Sao
José. With the help of ex-minister Monte Alegre, Ottoni obtained the
contract and purchased the 7o-contos-worth Mucury steamer, showing

2 Tedfilo Benedito Ottoni and Honério Benedito Ottoni, Condicées para a encorporacio de
wma compannhia de commercio e navegagio do rio Mucury precedidas de uma exposicao
das vantagens da empresa (Rio de Janeiro: Typ. Imp. e Const. de J. Villeneuve e Comp.,
1847), 11-12, 41-51; JC, no. 246 (5 Sept. 1847); O Mercantil (MG), no. 315 (11
Nov. 1847).
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Cabinets and Companies 193

his ability to surmount logistical challenges and rally conservatives to
his cause."

Ottoni’s brio found its complement in relatively equitable, transparent,
and accountable corporate practices, which helped the company
stand out among other enterprises. Mucury’s original rules allowed a
gradual increment of shareholder voting power at the rate of one vote
for every five shares bought but capped the maximum votes at six, thus
limiting the power of the largest shareholders. As early as 1852, an
independent audit commission of shareholders that included Ottoni’s
friend Maud concluded that “one must admire what the director has
accomplished and at such little expense,” forecasting that its “conspicu-
ous administration ... could soon place the Mucury Company as one of
the most useful, prosperous and brilliant associations of the Empire.”
By 1854, the Company enjoyed a respectable position among public
companies at the Court, yielding a yearly dividend of 10$618 for every
300$ share, which made it the third most lucrative company, even ahead
of Maud’s Amazon Company, and allowed Ottoni to boast that no other
enterprise “offered so many and such secure guarantees of prosperity.”"*

Regarding settlement, however, the 1852 commission struck a somber
note. Even Ottoni admitted that the Company had “dragged its feet in
colonization matters.”"* Mucury contractually agreed with the Minas
government that two-thirds of its labor would be free and preferably
foreign and promised the imperial government to populate its land grant
with 6o colono couples per square league within a decade. The auditors
recommended eliminating obstacles to smooth colonization operations,
including internal passport taxes for colonos instituted by an 1842

' Law no. 332 (3 Apr. 1847) Colecdo das Leis Mineiras, vol. 13 (Ouro Preto: Tipografia
Imparcial, 1847), 63-65; Law no. 453 (20 Oct. 1849), CLM, vol. 15 (Ouro Preto:
Tipografia Episcopal, 1849), 35-37; Relatério do presidente da provincia MG (1853),
18-19; Law no. 678 (10 May 1854), CLM, vol. 20 (Ouro Preto: Tipografia do Bom
Senso, 1854), 33—34; Correio Mercantil, nos. 147, 226 (27 May 1852, 17 Aug. 1854).
On electoral violence in Minas, see Judy Bieber, Power, Patronage, and Political
Violence: State Building on a Brazilian Frontier, 1822-1889 (Lincoln: University of
Nebraska Press, 1999), 90-100, 143-144; Ana Paula Ribeiro Freitas, “Minas e a
politica imperial: Reformas eleitorais e representa¢io politica no parlamento brasileiro
(1853-1863)” (PhD diss., USP, 2015).

Correio Mercantil, nos. 160, 246 (9 June 1852, 6 Sept. 1854); Ottoni and Ottoni,
Condicbes, 20.

Ottoni, Companbia, 5; Teofilo Ottoni, A colonizacio do Mucury: Memdria justificativa
em que se explica o estado actual dos colonos estabelecidos no Mucury e as causas dos
recentes acontecimentos naquela colonia (Rio de Janeiro: Typographia Brasiliense,
1859), 15.
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ordinance.”> Meanwhile, Ottoni sought to cut losses by addressing indi-
genous depredations on his colony, christened Filadelfia in accordance to
his democratic creed. To do so, he employed “pacification” strategies
including gift exchanges and Indian lingoas (translators) to establish a
regional diplomacy with itinerant indigenous groups, one of whose ultim-
ate intentions was to turn indigenous peoples to seasonal agricultural
work to supply foodstuffs for incoming colonos. Yet Ottoni’s “pacifica-
tion” lost to his concern with the security of property. When some Indians
attacked a company expedition, Ottoni welcomed plans for a military
colony in the area and periodically continued to ask the president
for reinforcements."#

The Mucury Company rapidly turned to peopling as its principal
activity, maximizing any available opportunity to obtain and retain for-
eign settlers. The new Uructd military colony provided a haven for the first
cohorts. Aware that a fungal blight devastated vineyards in Madeira,
Ottoni recruited 153 colonos from the island who made it to Urucu in
1855 and were “swimming in abundance” by the time 162 Belgians and
Dutch joined them in 1858. In addition to the slaves employed by Ottoni
and the indigenous groups around Filadelfia and Santa Clara, Portuguese
islanders, German speakers, and Chinese colonos diversified Company
rosters. Similarly, Ottoni varied his catchment strategies but always relied
on trusted employees rather than “ordinary colonization agents who
obtain a prize for every colono they hire.” Robert Schlobach — the new
head engineer — siphoned colonos through Hamburg. Another agent, a
Prussian by the name of Moritz Horn, set out to Potsdam to hire colonos
with the aid of his father, a local politician. Ottoni himself hired a
hundred Chinese colonos from the imperial government’s contract with
Sampson & Tappan, later claiming that he never considered the Chinese
as colonos but as ideal wage laborers, or “machines to substitute

slave workers.” ">

'3 Correio Mercantil, no. 160 (9 June 1852); Law no. 261 (3 Dec.), Regulamento no. 120
(31 Jan.); CLIB (1841, 1842).

4 Untitled letter, Ottoni to MG president (Ouro Preto: Typographia do Bom Senso, 1853);
Teofilo Ottoni, Noticia sobre os selvagens do Mucury (Rio de Janeiro: Typ. Brasiliense de
Maximiano Gomes Ribeiro, 1858); “Navega¢io do Mucury,” Correio Mercantil,
no. 201 (28 July 1854); Ottoni to MG president Carlos Carneiro de Campos (17
Mar. 1859), in Ottoni, A colonizacdo, 16-17; Weder Ferreira da Silva, “Colonizagio,
politica e negdcios: Tedfilo Benedito Ottoni e a trajetéria da Companhia do Mucuri
(1847-1863)” (MA thesis, Universidade Federal de Ouro Preto, 2009), 115-116.

5 Ottoni to Brazil’s consul in Switzerland (19 Dec. 1855), Ottoni to Olinda (15 June 1858),
Ottoni to Empire minister Sérgio Teixeira de Macedo (31 Mar. 1859), in Ottoni,
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Ottoni also sought to benefit from a resurgent Portuguese colono trade
that entailed familiar complications. He contracted Antonio Martins
Lage, the shipping magnate who refused the SPC presidency back in
1837 and who owned the Ilha das Enxadas, a lucrative shipyard and
charcoal station in Guanabara Bay. Lage cleared the 1,000-ton, copper-
lined Brazilian galleon Palmyra with the Navy Auditor, as required, and
tried to acquit his captain from a scandal in 1856 concerning a colono
voyage overcrowded with minors and passportless emigrants.” In Sio
Miguel, the Palmyra offered travel advances and free passage to Mucuri,
free room and board for ten months in Santa Clara, some wardrobe, a
modest stipend, and the possibility of buying or leasing land from the
Company. But the 224 colonos who arrived in Rio on January
1858 refused to continue on to Mucuri. Rather than obligate them,
Ottoni rescinded their contracts without charge and tried to recoup losses
by luring colonos from other enterprises. When 70 Portuguese workers
landed from Porto for the ACC and a larger load of 232 colonos from
Prussia, Hesse, Holstein for the Unido e Inddstria Company, Ottoni
published an advertisement addressed “to the colonos recently arrived
from Europe” offering free travel to Mucuri and land on credit.*”

For the colonos who took him at his word, Ottoni made good on his
promises and showed care for their health. At Santa Clara, he relied on
Dr. Manoel Esteves Ottoni and on two “well known medics” from Rio to
tend to the sickly. When a bout of typhoid hit, he allowed Dr. Robert
Avé-Lallemant to take colonos for more medical care at the Court. Later,
he also got in touch with the marqués de Abrantes, then president of the
Casa da Misericordia, to keep track of 86 colonos he had sent for
treatment due to “ulcers in their feet,” fevers, and gastro-intestinal condi-
tions. Foreign observers attested to Ottoni’s concerns for colono well-
being in this epidemiologically challenging environment, with some

A colonizagdo do Mucury, 5-15; Correio Mercantil, nos. 152, 286, 143 (15 June, 19
Oct. 1857, 28 May 1858); “Die Mucury-Kolonien,” Allgemeine Auswanderungszeitung,
no. 22 (3 June 1859).

¢ AN, Agricultura-IA®121, Felizardo to Foreign Affairs minister (13 Nov. 1856); GIFI-6H-
13, Extract on Antdnio Martins Lage (20 Mar. 1857). The Palmyra also carried 144 colo-
nos to Rio in 1855-1856. Imprensa e lei n°® 527 (23 May 1855); JC, nos. 63, 106 (4 Mar.,
17 Apr. 1856); Correio Mercantil, nos. 62, 5 (4 Mar. 1857, 5 Jan. 1858); Thiago
Mantuano, “A Ilha das Enxadas sob dominio da familia Lage (1823-1882),” H-indus-
tri@ 14, no. 26 (2020): I-15.

7 Correio Mercantil, nos. 143, 177, 110 (28 May, 2 July 1858, 21 Apr. 1859).
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emphasizing colonos’ ability to send remittances to their families and even
grow their own food within 8 or o months of arrival."®

Yet Ottoni’s concern for colonos was not entirely selfless. His relatives
and associates benefited considerably from their presence once they
acquired the first available plots in Filadelfia and offered them to colonos
through aforamento, a type of long-term land lease.” Teo6filo’s brothers
Augusto and Ernesto also bought lands along Todos os Santos to estab-
lish chdcaras (farmsteads) for local provisioning. Ernesto, cousin Tristao
Vieira, Minas Novas notables, and even Robert Schlobach’s brother set
up earthenware, hardware, and wholesale shops starting in 1857.
Ottoni’s circle, then, built land and commercial markets on the backs of
arriving foreigners and the thousand or so Brazilian squatters living
around Santa Clara and Filadelfia.*®

The Mucury Company fell behind its contractual obligations notwith-
satnding its bustling activities. In late 1855, the imperial government
allotted more lands to the Company and land sales proceeded apace,
but colono importation rates lagged behind. Up to 1858, Ottoni imported
1,113 foreigners, with a real net total of 1,091. This put the Company
behind its commitment to import 1,000 colonos per year between
1857 and 1859 in exchange for a 300-conto interest-free government
loan to be disbursed gradually as Ottoni fulfilled migrant quotas. But
costs were already prohibitive. Colono recruitment and transport to
Rio, and then to Mucuri, exhausted the Company’s accounts, which
Ottoni dented further by forgiving colono contracts or debts. From
1857 to 1859, colonization-related expenses more than doubled from
5.88 percent to 12.8 percent of the total operating budget.**

During that time, other companies outsmarted or outshone Mucury.
The Amazon Company imported 963 Portuguese colonos directly to Para

8 Ottoni to Abrantes (28 Mar. 1859), certificates of Portuguese vice-consul Jerénimo José

Duarte e Silva and Saxon consul Davis Moers (4 Apr. 1859), in Ottoni, A colonizagdo do
Mucury, 35-40, 51-55.
9" Aforamento, or emphyteutic lease, was a kind of property contract by which a landowner
retained property rights while foreiros, or those who inhabited or used it for a fee,
received lifelong right to its improvement and usufruct. This right, or foro,
was inheritable.
Teofilo Benedito Ottoni, Relatério apresentado aos accionistas da Companhbia do
Mucury (Rio de Janeiro: J. Villeneuve e Comp., 1857), 23—24, annex nos. 1-3, repro-
duced in Valdei Lopes de Aratjo, ed., Tedfilo Ottoni e a Companhia do Mucuri:
A modernidade possivel (Belo Horizonte: Arquivo Piblico Mineiro, 2007).
Ottoni, Relatério (1857); “Balango,” Relatério apresentado aos accionistas da
Companhia do Mucury (Rio de Janeiro: Typ. do Correio Mercantil, 1860).
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within three years of incorporation but abandoned colono drives in
1857 after contemplating their huge expenses.** The Companhia Unido
e Industria incorporated in 1854 by Mariano Procdpio Ferreira Lage for
macadamized roadwork between Petr6polis and Juiz de Fora struck an
almost identical deal as Mucury’s by committing to 2,000 foreign
workers within three years in return for an interest-free 200-conto loan
from the imperial government (disbursable in five installments versus
Mucury’s three). After a failed recruitment drive in Schleswig-Holstein
in 1858, Procopio’s recruiter in Hamburg reported immense difficulties in
finding emigrants willing to head to the projected colony of Pedro II, just
beyond the Unido e Industria’s endpoint in Minas. Yet Procdpio sought
Dr. Schmidt’s help, and before the end of the year, 1,170 colonos arrived
from Hamburg — 370 more than he requested. By the end of the decade,
1,112 colonos had permanently settled in Pedro II as the road inched
toward Petropolis.*?

In vain, Ottoni sought help from the ACC instead, which ceded only
some colonos to make up for the Palmyra’s Azoreans even though, Ottoni
noted, “the hostel at the Ilha do Bom Jesus was full to the brim.” Besides
this “provocation,” these colonos allegedly included “proven harlots,
ex-sailors and veterans” from the “taverns and public squares of
Europe.” Ottoni also got the cold shoulder from ACC president Manuel
Vieira Tosta, bario de Muritiba, when he requested a credit to help
colonos defray land clearance costs. The ACC was then striving to
become the leading colono purveyor for individuals and firms alike and
as such became Mucury’s top competitor in recruitment activities. Ottoni
complained to Olinda that his company could barely meet colono quotas
“due to the ruinous competition carried out by ACC agents against
[Mucury’s] correspondents in Europe.” Only an advance of Mucury’s
government loan could offset the deleterious effects of the ACC recruit-
ments. But no funds would be forthcoming. Olinda had too much at stake
to walk back on his support for the ACC, especially amid the tenuous
balance of forces he sought to maintain in the post-conciliation.**

** Correio Mercantil, no. 235 (24 Aug. 1855); Luiz Pedreira Couto Ferraz, Relatorio do
Império (1856), 33—34; Sousa (Maua), Relatdrio, 1-7.

*3 AMI, (POB)-m.126-doc. 6239, [G. C. Giebert] to Procépio (3 Mar. 1858); “Termo de
contracto” (25 Apr. 1857) in Mariano Procépio Ferreira Lage, Relatdrio da Companhia
Unido e Indistria (Rio de Janeiro: Empreza Nacional do Didrio, 1857), 32-34; Relatério
apresentado d assembléa geral dos accionistas da Companhia Unido e Indiustria (Rio de
Janeiro: J. Villeneuve e Comp., 1858), 10-12; and (1860), 11-12, annex no. 11.

*4 Ottoni to Muritiba (24 Sept. 1858), Ottoni, A colonizacdo, 17-18, 20.
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THE ACME OF GOVERNMENT-RUN PEOPLING

The ACC was the brainchild of Bernardo Augusto Nascentes de
Azambuja, who made a name for himself as municipal judge at the
Court and ascended to important district judge seats as a result of over-
seeing a case against senator José Martiniano de Alencar (Sr.) for alleged
involvement in the liberal uprisings of 1842. By the early 1850s,
Azambuja sat as 1 of the 10 deputies for Rio in the Chamber. As in
Ottoni’s case, family ties were central to Azambuja, whose entry into
politics and his stability as a middling bureaucrat owed much to a coterie
of brothers in similarly middling positions in the Imperial Chamber, Rio’s
police, and the administrative backbenches of various ministries.*’

With his siblings as a weatherglass, Azambuja articulated the ACC’s
principles in a string of articles at the start of 1853. He began with a call
for the “rightful execution” of the 1850 Land Law and for the “wealthiest
planters” to “gradually substitute slave service with free labor.” Then,
Azambuja proposed a centralized association to promote foreign migra-
tion to Brazil through government and private funds, in close collabor-
ation with European emigration agencies and in communication with new
welcoming hubs in provincial capitals across the Empire. His ideas
invoked Land Law stipulations empowering government to import a fixed
number of colonos at the expense of the Treasury and to issue additional
credits whenever costs exceeded budget allocations for colonization.
Finally, Azambuja’s blueprint also prioritized surveying and selling public
lands as much as propaganda to battle German newspapers’ “calumnies”
against emigration to Brazil.*®

Azambuja’s proposal incited the Empire minister and one-time empre-
sario hopeful Francisco Gongalves Martins to call a commission to draft
the ordinance activating the Land Law, which he filled with old coloniza-
tion mavericks like Calmon, Paraiba Valley plantaters Baependi and José
Teixeira Leite, and ex-SPC member Caetano Alberto Soares. The Land
Ordinance passed in 1854 and established a Lands and Colonization
Department with the unserendipitous selection of Azambuja as its interim

*5 José Martiniano de Alencar, Resposta dada ao Senado ... sobre a proniincia contra elle
feita pelo juiz municipal da 2.* vara Bernardo Augusto Nascentes de Azambuja, no
processo organisado na Corte pelos movimentos de S. Paulo e Minas (Rio de Janeiro:
Typographia Nacional, 1843); Almanak administrativo, mercantil e industrial (Rio de
Janeiro: Eduardo e Henrique Laemmert, 1851).

*¢ DRJ, nos. 1, 6, 12, 13, 16, 20, 21, 26, 36, 38, 42, 44 (T, 7, 13-14, 17, 21-22, 27 Jan., 6,
8, 12, 14 Feb. 1853); Correio Mercantil, no. 36 (6 Feb. 1853).
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director. The appointment helped the ACC take root by giving Azambuja
an insider’s view of emergent policy proposals and colonization efforts in
newly opening frontiers.

As the ACC incorporated, Azambuja accompanied minister Ferraz’s
1855 decree abolishing restrictive residency permits for foreigners and
allowing them to use their passports for travel within the Empire and a
later decree expediting naturalization procedures by eliminating residency
prerequisites and allowing district councils and justices of peace to certify
requests. Shortly after, a budget law established the first regulations over
colono transports by tethering anchorage exemptions for colono vessels
to yet-to-be-determined rules.*” Azambuja may have also gotten wind of
novel ideas conveyed through diplomatic channels. From Madrid, for
instance, Francisco de Varnhagen proposed an Empire-wide land census
geared to establish property taxes on both cultivated and fallow lands, a
corrective for the ills of large-holding perpetuated by the Land Ordinance
of 1854. In his view, properties reverting to public lands, including
aforamentos (to be abolished under the project’s terms), should be sold
and priced according to their distance to the nearest urban center or rail
line, but, Varnhagen believed, empresarios involved in “European agri-
cultural colonization” should also receive free land grants. From Berlin,
consul Sturz also championed an “adequate general land tax” to fix
Brazil’s “shoddy colonization” and eliminate “emphytheutic schemes”
and parceria contracts so as to outcompete Montevideo’s new consul in
Berlin, who was speculating in lands to give German emigration a “con-
centrated direction” toward Uruguay.*®

Azambuja may have downplayed these international threats as he
came to understand that internal frontiers like the newly created province
of Parand generated strong demand for colono-provisioning companies
like the ACC. Carved out of the southern paulista district of Curitiba,
Parana speedily evolved into an export powerhouse linked to Buenos
Aires, Valparaiso, and Montevideo. Even though its main port,
Paranagud, lagged behind Rio or Salvador, by 1855 it outstripped
Desterro, doubling the latter’s revenues and tripling its export values.
New colonies in Parani, however, took time to flourish, including

*7 Decree no. 1531 (10 Jan); no. 808-A (23 June); law no. 840 (15 Sept.), CLIB (1855),
vol. 1, 3—4, 45; vol. 2, 30-33, 3113 19.

28 Francisco Adolfo de Varnhagen, Projecto de uma lei addicional & das terras piiblicas, com
a imposicdo do censo por maior e favores aos que promovam a colonisacao agricola no
Brazil (Madrid: Viuva D. R. J. Dominguez, 1856); AMIL, m. 122-doc. 6084, J. J. Sturz,

“Observacao sobre a emigragio alema” (4 Aug. 1855).
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Charles Peret Gentil’s Superaguy, whose director lasted but eight
months.*® Parand’s first president, Zacarias de Gois e Vasconcelos,
blamed Indian raids such as the one against the military colony of
Guarapuava and probably bristled at Kaingang, Guarani, or Kaiowa
peoples’ negotiations with the imperial government to secure land claims,
at times successfully.?® The ACC could, at any rate, help colonization
endeavors establish a firmer footing by purveying colonos to self-styled
frontiersman like Jodo da Silva Machado, Luiz Vergueiro’s co-organizer
in the Santos colonization company back in 1836. Machado, known as
bardo de Antonina, was a liberal linked by kin to the Vergueiros who had
nonetheless combated the revolts of 1842 and consequently earned his
title. In 1854, he became senator for Parand and continued to expand
ongoing roadworks with liberated Africans around the military colony of
Jatai. As Antonina lobbied for military outposts like the ones built in
Pernambuco and Alagoas in the proximity of indigenous settlements, the
imperial government authorized eight new indigenous colonies next to
presidios or old Jesuit aldéas along the Parana river as part of a larger
flurry of measures for Parand’s development.’” Antonina thus began
importing Portuguese settlers to new outposts as far inland as Mato

*9° AN, GIFI-4]-86, interim Paranagud customs inspector to Empire minister Ferraz (22
Sept. 1855); Carneiro Ledo, Proposta e relatério da fazenda (1856), annex nos. 42 and
53; AMIL, M. 122-doc. 6084, Sturz, “Observa¢io”; Vitor Marcos Gregorio, “A
emancipacio negociada: Os debates sobre a criagdo da provincia do Parand e o sistema
representativo imperial, 1843,” RBH 35, no. 69 (2015): 319—341; Alessandro Cavassin
Alves, “A provincia do Parana (1853-1889): A classe politica, a parentela no governo”
(PhD diss., UFPR, 2014).

AMI, 1-ZGV-22.03.1854-Ara.c, José Tomds Nabuco de Aradjo to Zacarias (22
Mar. 1853). Almir Antonio de Souza, “A lei de terras no Brasil Império e os indios do
planalto meridional: A luta politica e diplomdtica do Kaingang Vitorino Condd
(1845-1870),” RBH 35, no. 70 (2015): 109-130; Soraia Sales Dornelles, “A questio
indigena e o Império: Indios, terra, trabalho e violéncia na provincia paulista,
1845-1891” (PhD diss. Unicamp, 2017), 65-79.

IHGB-(0), Lata 205, doc. 49 “Parecer sobre contrato celebrado pela Colénia Militar de
Jatahi com Feliciano Nepomuceno Prates” (26 Sept. 1859); Maria Cristina Cortez
Wissenbach, “Desbravamento e catequese na constituicio da nacionalidade brasileira:
As expedicoes do bardo de Antonina no Brasil meridional,” RBH 15, no. 30 (1995):
137-155; Luiz Adriano Gongalves Borges, “Senhor de homens, de terras e de animais:
A trajetéria politica e econdmica de Joao da Silva Machado (Provincia de Sao Paulo,
1800-1853)” (PhD diss., Universidade Federal do Parand, 2014); Beatriz Mamigonian,
Africanos livres: A abolicdo do trdfico de escravos no Brasil (Sio Paulo: Companhia das
Letras, 2017), 310-311; Amaro Hélio Leite da Silva, “Col6nia militar Leopoldina: ‘das
matas incultas’ as ‘matas civilizadas’ (1851-1867)” (PhD diss., UFPE, 2016); Aylla
Oliveira Silva, Ordem imperial e aldeamento indigena: Camacans, gueréns e pataxds
do sul da Babia (Ilhéus: Editora da Universidade Estadual de Santa Cruz, 2018).
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Grosso, confirming for Azambuja a growing market demand
for colonos.?*

As novel ideas circulated and agrarian frontiers ratcheted up,
Azambuja officially incorporated the ACC in April 1855 in an inaugural
assembly at the Praga do Comércio. Eighty-six attendees commanding up
to 377 votes and covering two-thirds of available shares quickly con-
firmed Azambuja as vice-president. The largely symbolic presidency
unanimously went to the marqués de Monte Alegre. Two others elected
to the executive board had also matched Azambuja with 373 votes: Luiz
Peixoto de Lacerda Werneck, the author of Idéas sobre colonisacio, and
Francisco José Fialho. Meanwhile, elected members for an administrative
council — a consultive body for the board — included former 4ulicos and
statesmen from the imperial stratosphere such as Abrantes and the vis-
conde de Ipanema, whose lands south of the Court the ACC could tap
for colonos.

The ACC’s charter and board elections strengthened Azambuja’s hand
to negotiate government benefits and solidify the ACC as a profit-yielding
enterprise with at least five income streams: transatlantic transport costs
aboard its own vessels or chartered ships; sales, leases, or aforamentos of
any land under its ownership; fees charged to “spontaneous emigrants”
seeking its services or staying at its hostel; interest rates on colono loans;
and room and board services to its own recently arrived colonos. In the
run-up to the ACC’s government contract of 1857 negotiated with
Manoel Felizardo, the new director of the Lands and Colonization
Directorate, Azambuja secured a new source of earnings: a 30$ govern-
ment prize for every adult colono, and 20$ for minors aged 5—10, plus an
interest-free 1,000-conto government loan to import 50,000 colonos
within § years.?> Stable revenue sources and government privileges
tethered to company performance seemd to foolproof ACC finances.

Azambuja drafted statutes that greatly eased requirements for partici-
pation relative to other colonization companies by offering one of the

3* BN, Manuscritos-Col. Galvao-374,01,004 no. 026, prime minister Parand to Empire
minister Ferraz (24 Oct. 1854); IHGB-(sn), Lata 384, livro 2-“Regulamento para as
colonias de indigenas” (1855); AN, GIFI-4J-86, bario de Antonina to Ferraz (5
Aug. 1855); Decrees nos. 1562, 1583 (21 Feb., 2 Apr.), CLIB (1855), vol. 1, 135, 310;
Edilson Pereira Brito, “Soldados da nagio: Os pragas e a guarda nacional na provincia do
Parand (segunda metade do século XIX)” (PhD diss., Unicamp, 2018), 43—80, 157-168.
AN, Agricultura-IA®46, Azambuja, “Proposta” (25 Apr. 1855); Azambuja to Ferraz (27
Nov. 1855); Correio Mercantil, nos. 134, 151, 164 (15, 22 May, 14 June 1856); Decree
no. 1915 (28 Mar.), CLIB (1857), vol. 2, 123-134.
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cheapest share prices at the time(100$), at half the cost of one Banco do
Brasil share, a third of Mucury’s, a quarter of an Amazon Company’s,
and five and ten times more affordable respectively than a single entry
into Unido e Industria and the Macaé and Campos navigation company.
Also, subscribers could transfer their shares and thus underwrite other
commercial transactions, and exchange scrip for equivalent value in ACC
land plots. Azambuja also facilitated participation in general assemblies
by setting the quorum for biannual meetings at one-quarter of all share-
holders and allowing absent members to delegate votes to other members.

With these generous conditions, the public readily welcomed the ACC.
Some 267 shareholders had signed up at the time of the government
contract. Voting was initially staggered at 1 vote per ro-share interval
up to 100 shares. Between 100 and a ceiling of 300 shares, members only
obtained 1 vote per 5o shares. Hence, while a considerable cleavage
existed in company participation between the members with the least
shares and those with the most, the latter’s power was capped at 14 votes.
Even the smallest shareholders enjoyed a modicum of representation:
ownership of 5—10 shares yielded 1 vote, eligibility for board positions
started at To. Only 14 percent of subscribers owned more than 50 shares.
The rest leaned heavily toward the middle and lowest ranks of ownership,
with 25.5 percent owning exactly 5o shares, and 45 percent owning
20 shares or less (Figure 6.1). The ACC’s low entry threshold led to
membership concentration in the lowest rates. Meanwhile, middle-tier
shareholders made up the largest single group and left a wide gap between
them and the highest-rate shareholders because they probably found
greater voting power less appealing, given that such a large cohort of
low-rate members had a balancing effect over the voting power of those
with the most shares. This solid low- and middle-ownership base that did
not require more shares to have their voices heard made the ACC into a
less seigneurial company than the SPC or CCB. Wheras five viscondes,
three bardes, and three marqueses featured as members, bureaucrats,
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FIGURE 6.1 Distribution of ACC share ownership, 1857
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merchants, and military men made the bulk of ACC and contributed
decisively not only to increasing its start-up capital to 1.557:500$ by
1857, but also producing a 731-réis dividend.?*

Soon, the ACC assembled a remarkable colono conveyance network.
In Rio, it leased the Santo Antonio convent and opened a hostel in the Ilha
do Bom Jesus to house arriving colonos until they were contracted by
third parties. As part of renegotiations in 1857, the imperial household
ceded one of its properties, the Quinta do Caju in the present-day area of
the Ilha do Fundao, with its yearly pension of 2:400$000, for the con-
struction of a large-scale migrant inn. Overseas, the company organized a
competitive recruitment system. It subcontracted ad hoc recruitment
drives in the Azores, bringing in one shipload of 116 in 1858 and another
of 245 colonos in 1859, and it opened agencies in Paris, Porto, and Berlin,
which respectively hauled 1,563, 569, and 137 colonos to Brazil
in 1858.%%

A diverse cast manned these agencies. In Berlin, the ACC hired Dr.
Schmidt, Brazil’s old vice-consul, who had the experience to surmount
Prussian strictures against emigration. In Paris, a close friend of ACC
board member Fialho who worked at the Brazilian legation facilitated
contact with a French firm, H. Beaucourt & Comp., hired to supply 6,000
colonos to the ACC.>® Meanwhile in Porto, the ACC depended on
Guilherme Augusto Machado Pereira, a wealthy merchant who resided
in Brazil until 1852 and sat on the fiscal board of the Banco Mercantil
Portuense. At lower pay, the ACC also employed a cunning recruiter by
the name of Antonio Joaquim de Andrade Villares, who had hired colo-
nos for the bardo de Nova Friburgo and could more inconspicuously
recruit colonos without passports and even minors, helping the ACC meet
its migrant quotas by illicit means.3”

34 Correio Mercantil, nos. 36, 246 (6 Feb. 1853, 6 Sept. 1854); DRJ, no. 107 (21
Apr. 1857); JC, no. 108 (21 Apr. 1857); Manuel Vieira Tosta, Relatério da Associagcio
Central de Colonisacdo apresentado a Assembléa Geral dos Accionistas na sessio de
18 de Janeiro de 1859 (Rio de Janeiro: J. Villeneuve e Comp., 1859).

35 Correio Mercantil, no. 117 (2 May 1858); Tosta, Relatério, 7—9; Candido Borges

Monteiro, Relatério da Associagdo Central de Colonisa¢io apresentado d Assembléa

Geral dos Accionistas na sessio de 1 de maio de 1860 (Rio de Janeiro: Typ. do

Paiz, 1860).

AN, Agricultura-IA®46, Manuel Teixeira Coimbra report (6 July 1860), Bento José

Martins to [...] (18 July 1860).

Tosta, Relatério; Didrio do Maranhdo, no. 45 (25 Apr. 1857); Jorge Fernandez Alves,

“Os ‘brasileiros’: Emigracio e retorno no Porto oitocentista” (PhD diss., Universidade do

Porto, 1993), 154-155, 180-181.
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Yet the ACC’s ballooning costs provoked a polemic about the govern-
ment’s obligations to colonization companies. In April 1858, critics
maligned private colonization as a racket that exhausted public funds in
the name of the common good.>® The main attack came from an anonym-
ous contributor nicknamed Vadius, later revealed to be the conservative
mathematician Cindido Baptista de Oliveira. As enovy to Russia,
Candido Baptista had mailed colonization literature back to Brazil; as
provincial vice-president, he helped Aureliano with the Delrue colonos.
But, as Vadius, he believed that “colonization for money” was “the worst
kind” and thought it unconscionable that “respectable . .. personalities at
the court” condoned “making money” as the ACC’s ultimate goal.
Vadius claimed that the ACC’s outsized government loan was meant to
pay its top managers and called attention to the Empire minister’s scan-
dalous guarantees of a 7 percent return in dividends at all costs.
Dovetailing with sardonic criticisms of “the wages, bonuses ... and
subventions” for the “great management services” charged by ACC
principals, Vadius ran the numbers and concluded that government sub-
sidies would feed the problem by mushrooming beyond projections with
per capita prizes on colonos rising to 42$, exponentially costlier than
Herman Blumenau’s and Léonce Aubé’s rate of §$, and Montravel’s and
Caetano Dias’s 13$. In Vadius’s view, government could only make good
on returns if it instead surveyed and readied lands for sale to incentivize
both foreign and Brazilian settlers. Even though over the course of several
weeks two other aliases — Junius and Alpha — responded feverishly to
these claims, citing Pedro II’s throne speeches and the late Parand’s own
sanction of the the 6,000-conto ACC credit, Vadius carried the day.?®

In the heat of controversy, Monte Alegre resigned as ACC’s president.
Azambuja then issued a public explanation of the ACC’s shortcomings,
citing an “insufficiency of means at its disposal” that handicapped it in
relation to other countries’ colono recruitment drives. The ACC tried
renegotiating its government contract, raising per capita prizes to
8o-120$ for the first 4,000 individuals — far higher than Vadius
imagined — and trying to apply its 2,000-conto loan, used mainly as credit
for planters to request colonos, to other uses.*® In return for these

3% JC, no. 79 (21 Mar. 1857).

3% For the pieces by Vadius, Correio Mercantil, nos. 97, 109 (12, 24 Apr. 1858); by Junius,
nos. 100, 102, 103, 112 (15, 17, 18, 27 Apr. 1858); by Alpha, nos. 111, 113, 119 (26, 28
Apr., 4 May 1858); and a pedido from another correspondent: no. ro1 (16 Apr. 1858).

4° JC, no. 109 (23 Apr. 1858); Correio Mercantil, no. 116, 173 (1 May, 28 June 1858)
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allowances, the imperial government assigned a fiscal officer to the ACC
who also became its president: the barao de Muritiba, a wealthy conser-
vative senator from Bahia who had just retired from the Tribunal da
Relag¢do and was close with colonization empresarios and bureaucrats,
including Aureliano, Abrantes, ex-SPC shareholder Joao Pereira do Faro,
and colono importer Antonio Martins Lage, the latter two as board
members of the Botafogo Club presided over by Muritiba.**

Muritiba’s appointment expedited colono voyages for some months.
About a dozen vessels arrived from Porto and Bremen with Portuguese field
hands or Prussian and Hessian artisans for Rio Grande do Sul, the Unido e
Industria, Mucury, and the ACC itself. But arrivals tapered off from 2,385
in 1858 to 1,630 the next year, far below the ACC’s obligation to recruit
10,000 during that time. A month into Muritiba’s appointment, the ACC’s
dividends dipped to the lowest rungs among the 48 public companies at the
Court and certainly the lowest among the six colonization companies
despite the unprecedented subsidies it received. Muritiba ceded the presi-
dency to senator Candido Borges Monteiro in 1859, but the ACC con-
tinued to tailspin following rumors that Borges siphoned shareholder
capital for Muritiba to rent some property.**

TROUBLES IN THE COLONO TRADE:
FRAUD, EXPLOITATION, AND ILLICIT GAINS

By the late 18 50s, tales of abuse had become legend. A song from Lisbon’s
carnival even parodied the figure of the recruiter for “the land of the
banana” who hooked unwitting youngsters with his words.*> Stories of
naive emigrants falling prey to false promises, of young Portuguese
treated like enslaved Africans, and of workers sapped of their vital savings
began reaching wider audiences. Paulo e Maria, ou a escravatura branca,
a play about star-crossed lovers staged at Lisbon’s Teatro de Dom
Fernando in late 1858, narrated the fate of a young man, Paulo, coaxed
to emigrate to Brazil only to work among slaves. With its melodramatic
turns — the colono trader was revealed as Paulo’s father and Paulo’s lover
Maria committed suicide after herself traveling to Brazil to find him — the
plot was a cautionary tale about the misfortunes awaiting emigrants, and

4t JC, nos. 74, 123 (15 Mar., 5 May 1855); Correio Mercantil, nos. 124, 237, 273 (9 May, 1
Sept., 8 Oct. 1858).

4* Correio Mercantil, no. 173 (28 June 1858).

43 Correio Mercantil, no. 109 (24 Apr. 1858).
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a timely anti-emigration agitprop. Rio audiences would have had a taste
of these themes and adaptations if the one-act tragedy O engajamento na
cidade do Porto, ou os traficantes de escravos brancos, already on sale in
one bookstore, had passed muster with the Dramatic Conservatory,
which quickly censored it.##

The real stories behind these dramatic reenactments piled up, as news
of packed and understocked ships fed the old trope of a “white slavery”
or the belief that European emigrants were traded and treated like
enslaved Africans. Portuguese newspapers rushed to denounce the ineffi-
cacy of existing laws to curtail emigration in the face of incidents like that
of brigantine Arrogante, which arrived at Recife from Sio Miguel in
December 1853 overloaded with 400 colonos without passports.*’> The
Portuguese community in Recife contemplated in dismay how colonos
threw themselves overboard when the ship dropped anchor. Portuguese
merchants mobilized against vice-consul Joaquim Baptista Moreira —
nephew of the consul in Rio — and pressured Lisbon to dismiss him for
his complacency and complicity. Abuses continued into 1853, often with
serious consequences, as when the Portuguese galleon Defensor arrived in
Belém with 288 colonos and a bout of cholera that infected enslaved
stevedores and continued to spread along the colonos’ voyage on an
Amazon Company’s steamship all the way to Obidos.*®

44 Francisco Joaquim da Costa Braga, Paulo a Maria, ou a Escravatura branca. Comedia

drama de costumes populares em dois actos (Lisbon: Typographya de Leal & C*, 1859);

Correio Mercantil, no. 206 (26 July 1860); BNd, Manuscripts-1-08,17,073, “Designa¢io

de Francisco Joaquim Bithencourt da Silva para Thomaz José Pinto Serqueira examinar o

drama: Os traficantes de escravos brancos” (20 May 1861).

PGRd (PGR/os5/o4/10/010), “Em cumprimento da Portaria de 9 de Novembro de

1854 acerca das arguicdes feitas ao Consul em Pernambuco dcerca do

navio=Arrogante=" (14 May 1855); Imprensa e Lei, nos. 154, 162, 165, 167, 174, 195

(15, 24 Feb. 1, 3, 10 Mar., 6 Apr. 1854); Ant6nio de Atouguia, Relatério do Ministério

dos Negécios Estrangeiros (Lisbon: Imprensa Nacional, 1855), 8-9.

46 For another notorious case, that of the Incognito, see A Razdo, no. 52 (3 Apr. 1855); JC,
no. 128 (ro May 1855); DRJ, nos. 131, 163 (13 May, 14 June 1855). Susana Serpa Silva, “A
emigragdo agoriana para o Brasil, por meados do século XIX, e a questio da ‘escravatura
branca,” Histéria: Questoes & Debates 56 (2012): 37-61; Carlos Cordeiro, “A emigracio
acoriana para o Brasil nos debates parlamentares de meados do século XIX”; and Paula
Barros, “O discurso parlamentar da emigragao portuguesa para o Brasil (1855-1858),” in
Um passaporte para a terra prometida, ed. Maria Izilda Matos et al. (Porto: Cepese, 2011),
83—94, 209—217. On the cholera epidemic of 1855, see Francisco de Paula Candido,
Relatério acerca da saiide piiblica (Rio de Janeiro: Typographia Nacional, 1856); Donald
Cooper, “The New ‘Black Death’: Cholera in Brazil, 1855-1856,” Social Science History 10,
no. 4 (1986): 467—488. See also Ian Read, “‘A Change Very Perceptive and Oppressive’:
Climate, Epidemics, and Race in Brazil,” LBR 58, no. 2 (2022): 81-117.

4
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Portuguese lawmakers tried to stem abuses and poor transport condi-
tions with the Law of 20 July 1855, which regulated contracting in
Portuguese territory and forbade clandestine exits. Yet the arrival in late
1858 of the Brazilian galleon Dous Amigos in Rio with a jarring load of
603 passengers from Sio Miguel signaled that abuses only grew to new
proportions.*” Brazil’s service contract law of 1837 severely blunted
Portuguese diplomats’ ability to claim jurisdiction over Portuguese sub-
jects and enforce their government’s orders. More troublingly still, these
envoys themselves often contributed to colono abuses. In 1858, Jodo
Baptista Moreira, Portugal’s vice-consul and chargé from 1827 to 1834,
and consul general in Brazil after 1835, faced accusations that he had
helped the bario de Nova Friburgo hire two underaged Portuguese
colonos. Indeed, in 1862, after Moreira’s retirement, the Portuguese
government investigated the consular archive and found widespread evi-
dence of corruption. Whereas in 1835 — his first year as consul — Moreira
boasted of liquidating more than 23 inventories of Portuguese subjects
worth almost 17 contos, it now emerged that, over the following quarter
century, he had embezzled Portuguese subjects’ intestate inheritances,
with at least 42 contos missing from the consulate’s coffers. Dealing with
colonos and their troubles provided Moreira with illicit opportunities of
self-enrichment that complemented formal ones such as the SPC shares he
had once owned. His record also proved that abuses took on many forms
and could even come from those entrusted to protect colonos.*®

These revelations coincided with broader calls to rein in colono recruit-
ments in Porto. In 1859, ACC agent Villares was accused by a Portuguese
deputy of deceiving workers hired for Sio Paulo roadworks in 1855, who
only saw their contracts once in high seas. Villares claimed the workers
had freely signed their contracts and some in the press saw no wrong-
doing, but the Portuguese government denounced the ACC for contract-
ual lapses, claiming that “emigrants were deposited in an island far from

47 Camara dos Deputados, Primeiro inquérito parlamentar sobre a emigracdo portugueza
(Lisboa: Imprensa Nacional, 1873), 456—460; Correio Mercantil, nos. 41, 327, 328 (12
Feb. 3—4, 5 Dec. 1858).

48 Jodo Baptista Moreira, Apologia perante o governo de Sua Magestade Fidelissima (Rio de
Janeiro: Typographia Universal de Laemmert, 1862); José Barreto e Noronha, Jodo
Baptista Moreira, Bardo de Moreira: Esbogo biogrdphico (Rio de Janeiro: Typographia
Universal de Laemmert, 1862); JC, nos. 242, 4 (2 Nov. 1835, 4 Jan. 1859); Correio
Mercantil, no. 104 (17 Apr. 1861); O Commércio do Porto, no. 241 (21 Oct. 1861);
PGRd, Registo de Pareceres-Ministérios dos Negocios Estrangeiros, da Guerra e da
Marinha, no. 11, ff. 175-178v (05/04/11/109), general solicitor Joaquim Pereira
Guimaries to Portuguese Foreign minister (28 Nov. 1862).
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the city, with no communications; that they arrived with onerous debts,
etc., etc.” The ACC cautiously severed its links to Villares, but by then the
harm was done, as the Portuguese government forbade any exits from
Porto to Brazil involving Villares or any other ACC agent.*’

The ACC’s dealings in Paris brought even greater calamities. Late in
1857, the ACC managing director Francisco José Fialho engaged in talks
with Manoel Ferreira Pinto, a Portuguese merchant, Cantagalo planter,
Petrépolis Railroad Company president, and fellow member of the ACC.
Pinto had tried to launch a colono-purveying enterprise in 1853 but
instead became the factor for a Parisian firm led by a Henri Beaucourt,
who he recommended to Fialho to import colonos for the ACC. Fialho
devised a 13-conto contract to Beaucourt’s liking: the firm would import
as many colonos as the ACC needed but from ports and steamship lines of
its own choosing, set up its own agencies where it saw fit, and determine
upfront and travel accommodation costs as long as these did not increase
colono debts in Brazil.>® With the contract signed in early 1858, the ship
Liguria departed Genoa with 420 colonos but, after calling at Gibraltar
with sick passengers, the captain made for Mahon without explanation.
Colonos mutinied and, forcing a landing in Marseilles, had to be repatri-
ated. Despite this fiasco, Beaucourt continued to send colonos to poor
reviews from Brazilian contractors. After welcoming about 122 of these,
Ottoni even referred to them as the “refuse of diverse recruitment exped-
itions,” though acknowledging that a “turbulent minority” that protested
in Santa Clara due to unmet expectations had showed him a “Beaucourt
contract” and translations of Beaucourt’s ads confirming deceitful prom-
ises and illegal surcharges.’*

Olinda and the new ACC president, Muritiba, had to deal personally
with the fallout of Beaucourt’s frauds when the Bavarian consul requested
the repatriation of a 6o-year-old tailor named J. T. Seeligner and his
family, who received false assurances of quick employment from

49O Commeércio do Porto, no. 31 (9 Feb. 1859); Borges Monteiro, Relatério, 5; Portaria
(2 July 1859), Colecio Official da legislacio portugueza ... anno de 1859 (Lisbon:
Imprensa Nacional, 1860), 319-320; JC, no. 215 (5 Aug. 1859).

3¢ Correio Mercantil, nos. 310, 316 (7, 13 Nov. 1853); “Contracto para engajamento e
transporte de emigrantes europeus para o Império do Brazil, celebrado entre
H. Beaucourt ... e a ACC” (14 Oct. 1857), in Muritiba, Relatério, 11-14; Almanak
administrativo, mercantil e industrial (Rio de Janeiro: Eduardo e Henrique Laemmert,
1858), 200, 408, 412.

5T Ottoni to Olinda (3 Dec. 1858), Ottoni to Muritiba (29 Dec. 1858), in Ottoni,
A colonisagdo, 20-24, 32—33; Robert Avé-Lallemant, Reise durch Siid-Brasilien im
Jahre 1858, vol. 2 (Leipzig: F. A. Brockhaus, 1859), 230.
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Beaucourt. Privately, Muritiba accused the Seelingers of trying to obtain
advantages in cahoots with Beaucourt and confessed to Olinda, “If this
precedent passes, any who do not encounter Eldorado among us will
believe themselves in the right to allege deception and demand repatri-
ation.”’* Publicly, Muritiba found the perfect scapegoat in an ACC
commissioner working with Beaucourt in Antwerp (coincidentally,
Fialho’s friend from the Paris legation) and summarily discharged
him.>3 Beaucourt in turn continued to send colonos until the end of the
year and spent the next battling insurers for his losses with the Liguria.>*

The imperial government’s troubles regarding colonization extended
well beyond the ACC’s dealings. The most serious problem stemmed from
colono restiveness in the Vergueiros’ Ibicaba and Angélica plantations in
1856-1857. The problems had started with recruitment, when in 1855 a
number of Swiss men and women took up the offers of Emil Paravicini,
who worked as agent on call for the ACC’s representative in Hamburg as
well as for the HCV, Caetano Dias da Silva’s Rio Novo, Vergueiro & Co.,
and even some enterprises in the United States. Among the departed was
Thomas Davatz, a school teacher commissioned by the cantonal govern-
ment of Graubiinden to report on the conditions encountered in Brazil.
Davatz picked coffee and taught classes at Ibicaba, which readied him to
respond to the forty-five questions provided by cantonal authorities on a
range of topics, from schooling and weather vagaries to the items colonos
received from planters and the price of land allotments. Davatz failed to
report back when the Vergueiros got wind of his gloomy report mention-
ing inequities such as the recalculation of colono debts based on favorable
exchange rates for Brazilian currency, which lengthened repayment times.
Luiz Vergueiro threatened to murder Davatz, who organized fellow
workers to write to the Swiss consulate in Rio. After a heated discussion
between the two, a group of colonos picked up their tools and went to

>* THGB-(0), Lata 213, doc. 94-Bavarian consul Francis Karl Kerstein to Olinda (22
Oct. 1858), Muritiba to Olinda (26 Oct. 1858).

53 AN, Agricultura-TA°46, Bento J. Martins to Muritiba (7 July, 7 Aug. 1858), Martins to
secretary of Brazil’s legation in Paris Henrique Ratton (18 Aug. 1858), Martins to José
Marques Lisboa (28 Sept. 1859), [Martins] to ACC president Candido Borges Monteiro
(29 June 1860), Manuel Teixeira Coimbra to [?] (6 July 1860), Martins to [Pedro II]
(18 July 1860).

54 Correio Mercantil, no. 68 (12 Mar. 1858); Cours Impériale d’Aix, “Arbitrage-Clause
compromissoire dans une police d’assurance maritime” (25 Feb. 1859), Journal de
I’Assurer et de I'Assuré 12 (1859): 130-132.
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Davatz’s aid on 24 Dec. 1856 — the start of the alleged “uprising of
the sharecroppers.”?®?

Without news from Davatz, Graiibunden officials and the cantonal
governments of Zirich and Bern sounded the alarm and demanded
explanations from Paravicini, who offered to consult the Vergueiros for
subsidies to send a Swiss investigator. In November 1856, Ziirich dis-
patched a young chemist, Dr. Jakob Heusser, as commissioner to S3o
Paulo. Once there, Heusser spoke with colonos at Ibicaba, Angélica,
Senador Vergueiro, and other plantations, sharing his first impressions
with his superiors by April 1857 and concluding his report back in
Europe. During Heusser’s inquiry, the Vergueiros stopped at nothing to
get the imperial government on their side.’® José Vergueiro pestered
Justice minister Nabuco de Aratjo, alluding to an “infernal plan” impli-
cating slaves and a looming invasion of European warships and alleging a
republican conspiracy to take the province by arms. “Davatz,” he
claimed, “is an astute man ... of cold blood and Jesuitic education.”
In a separate letter to the provincial vice-president, Vergueiro warned of
the alleged co-conspirator, a colono named Oswald, who was supposedly
banished from Switzerland “for being a Communist, from where he went
to Algeria” before arriving in Campinas, “from where he sent calumnious
correspondence to Europe” against the Vergueiros. The conciliation cab-
inet responded calmly to José Vergueiro’s demands for imperial troops in
Ibicaba and neighboring colonies. But the War minister, marqués de
Caxias, who had crushed the 1842 liberal revolts, would not rush to aid
his nemeses.’”

Provincial authorities did appoint someone to investigate the
Vergueiros’ allegations. For three weeks in early 1857, Alagoan juriscon-
sult and interim police chief in Sdo Paulo, José Tavares Bastos (father of
the rising liberal Aureliano Tavares Bastos) conducted interviews around
the region’s plantations, concluding that the agitation was limited to
Ibicaba and that colono complaints appeared legitimate. Yet his report

55 Dean, Rio Claro, 97-118; Michael Hall and Verena Stolcke, “The Introduction of Free
Labour on S3o Paulo Coffee Plantations,” The Journal of Peasant Studies 10, nos. 2—3
(1983): 170—200; Thomaz Davatz et al. “Texto da deliberacio” (22 Dec. 1856) in
Thomas Davatz, Memdrias de um colono no Brasil (1850), trans. and intro. Sérgio
Buarque de Holanda (Belo Horizonte: Itatiaia, 1980) [1941], annex no. 3, 264—265.

5¢ Jakob Christian Heusser, Schweizer auf den Kolonieen in St. Paulo in Brasilien (Ziirich:
Friedrich Schulthesz, 1857); Davatz, Memdrias.

57 THGB-(sn), Lata 384, livro 2-José Vergueiro to Nabuco de Aradjo (10 Feb. 1857);
Vergueiro to vice-president SP Antonio Roberto de Almeida (18 Feb. 1857).
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blamed deficiencies in Brazilian law rather than the Vergueiros, highlight-
ing faults in judicial proceedings, vigilance over service contracts, and
poor selection parameters for imported colonos. Among 17 remedies,
Tavares Bastos Sr. suggested updating the 1837 contract law and typify-
ing contractual infractions in detail, correcting flaws in parceria such as
monetary value calculations across currencies, greater oversight over the
employment of minors, and proscribing prison sentences for cases of non-
payment or absenteeism.>®

Whereas these recommendations were either willfully ignored or fell
through the cracks of the ministerial transition of 4 May 1857, Heusser’s
report still had the power to force changes. The Vergueiros desperately tried
to preempt the report, feigning friendship with Heusser and even hiring his
helper as a colono. José Vergueiro went as far as publicizing a questionably
translated thank you note from Heusser to make it appear as an official
report and asked the JC to publish Heusser’s letters to the former Swiss
consul in Rio, Charles Peret Gentil — a close acquaintance of the Vergueiros
and author of a flattering tract on their colonies.>® Allegedly, in this letter
Heusser admitted that the Vergueiros did not run “a simple money-oriented
speculation” and blamed their enemies for inciting the uprising. The new
Swiss consul called the ruse.®® And by year’s end, the Swiss cantons wrote to
Olinda with strenuous objections over their findings on egregious abuses of
power and exorbitant interest rates on (inheritable) colono debts, protesting
the very nature of parceria contracts as favoring Brazilian entrepreneurs.
Swiss officials demanded all of Vergueiro’s colonos “freed from slavery”
and transported to state-run colonies before they published their documen-
tation and Davatz’s own account of his time in Sio Paulo.®*

COUNTERING ABUSES, STRENGTHENING THE STATE?

With Brazilian colonization vaulted into such a profound crisis, Olinda
did not sit idle. His trajectory had duly prepared him for this moment,

8

“

IHGB, Lata 384, livro 2-José Tavares Bastos, “Relatorio do chefe de policia interino” (c.
Apr.—May 1857).

Charles [Carlos] Peret Gentil, A colonia Senador Vergueiro (Santos: Typographia
Imparcial de F. M. R. d’Almeida, 1851).

JC, nos. 94, 95 (6, 7 Apr. 1857).

Thomaz Davatz, Die Behandlung der Kolonisten in der Provinz St. Paulo in Brasilien und
deren Erbebung gegen ihre Bedriicker. Ein Noth- und Hilfsruf an die Behirden und
Menschenfreunde der Linder und Staaten, welchen die Kolonisten angehdrten (Chur:
Druck von L. Hitz, 1858).

“w

9

Downloaded from https://www.cambridge.org/core. IP address: 13.201.136.108, on 14 Oct 2025 at 07:26:19, subject to the Cambridge Core terms of
use, available at https://www.cambridge.org/core/terms. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009281874.011


https://www.cambridge.org/core/terms
https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009281874.011
https://www.cambridge.org/core

212 Disentangling Companies and State

including his lifelong government service as deputy, senator, regent, min-
ister in eight cabinets (four of which he presided), his presidency of the
SPC back in 1836, and his tenure in the Conselho de Estado. He began his
crisis response by publishing internal communications with his Foreign
minister regarding the colono revolts and the Swiss inquiries, following
suit with a longer pamphlet unsparingly defending the Vergueiros. Olinda
extolled parceria contracts while excusing or offering bland correctives to
the problems in Ibicaba. Translators were in short supply, he claimed. If a
juiz de paz had a conflict of interest, other judges could step in. And then
he shifted blame. He hit back at Swiss authorities for sending their elderly,
sick, and poor, and cited the Swiss consul’s own observations on that
point as well as his celebration of Vergueiro establishments only four
months before the disturbances. As if following the Vergueiros’ tactics,
Olinda reproduced Heusser’s letter to them and unearthed Swiss consular
reports confirming that colonos could relinquish their debts in a few
years. Indeed, “if well understood,” the parceria system could “protect
men against hunger and cold in this sumptuous Brazil; and could offer, if
not wealth and independence, at least a pleasant, even happy, subsist-
ence” according to Olinda. Only those seeking “unearned advantages”
and seduced by “fallacious promises” of liquidated debts and free land
could squander the benefits of parceria.®*

Olinda’s indelicate response served as a perfect divertissement as he
sought correctives to colonization’s blatant flaws by consulting statesmen
across the political spectrum. Earlier, he had taken stock of fellow con-
servatives’ opinions. Soares de Andréa, the general who quashed the
Cabanagem and the 1842 revolts, had shared his preference for prioritiz-
ing military and indigenous colonies in the northeastern provinces and
refraining from “looking for colonos in their own lands,” offering instead
government loans and subsidies to companies with contracts that avoided
“excessive usury.”®? Olinda had also relied on the practical assessments
of allies closer to the ground such as Felizardo, whose recommendation of
Hermann Blumenau as an “honest and active man™ contributed to
Olinda ratifying the empresario’s contract for his Itajai colony within a

2 Correio Mercantil, no. 162 [Olinda to Foreign minister Caetano Maria Lopes Gama (1o
Apr. 1858)] (16 June 1858); Pedro de Aradjo Lima, Emigracdo suissa (Rio de Janeiro:
J. Villeneuve e Comp., 1858).

3 THGB-(0), Lata 206-doc. 6, Francisco Soares de Andréa to Olinda (undated, c. 1850s);
Maria Luiza Ferreira de Oliveira, “Circulagio de saberes e de préticas governativas:
caminhos de articulagio da politica no Brasil, 1845-1860,” Alamanack 18
(2018): 248-288.
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month following a two-year wait.®* Similarly, Olinda’s appointee to the
Rio Grande do Sul presidency, Angelo Muniz da Silva Ferraz, brought
news on the struggles of empresarios like Montravel, who had only
imported 49 colonos in 1857, and Jacob Rheingantz and his unfertile
land grant.®s

Ex-Empire minister Luiz Pedreira do Couto Ferraz also counseled
Olinda, but in contrast to conservative visions of a discreet state, he
leaned in favor of active government support for colonization. “With
time,” Ferraz had become “more convinced that immigration [would]
not advance, much less become centralized, without some sacrifice on the
part of the Treasury.” Government had to exceed “present expenditures
and allocations . .. to prove efficacious” while cost-saving by substituting
wages with foodstuffs and medicine.®® Ferraz’s notes coincided with the
overtures of a longtime German resident in Rio who invoked emigrant
drives to Chile, Australia, and the Cape of Good Hope to convince
Brazilian authorities to cover all travel expenses for his countrymen,
warning that “what comes cheap ends up being costly” and offering
model contracts between Hamburg authorities, shipping firms, and
British colonial administrators.®” By sounding Brazilian statesmen’s ideas
about colonization, Olinda realized that more direct government action
was imperative.

Liberals also furnished Olinda with invaluable suggestions. Francisco
de Paula Souza recommended keeping Joseph Hormeyer, an Austrian-
born veteran Brummer conscripted to fight Rosas in 1851, in the govern-
ment’s payroll as an emigration propagandist. Hormeyer, who had
already completed a commissioned handbook for emigrants to Brazil with
an appendix on the Mucury Company settlements, received a pay raise
from Olinda and by 1859 began publishing a journal that saw
four volumes until 1861. An envious Sturz, already resigned from
his diplomatic post, fulminated Hormeyer as Brazil’s “speaking

%4 THGB-(0), Lata 213-pasta 87, Manoel Felizardo to Olinda (10 July 1857); Decree no. 914
(16 Aug.), CLIB (1857), vol. 18, pt. [, 22—23.

5 THGB-(0), Lata 213-doc. 89, Angelo Muniz to Olinda (27 Nov. 1857, 23 Apr. 1858);
AHRS, cx. 20-mg¢. 35. On Rheingantz’s colony, see Patricia Bosenbecker, Uma colénia
cercada de estdncias: A insercdo de imigrantes alemaes na colénia Sio Lourenco, RS
(1857-1877) (Pelotas: Editora UFPel, 2020), 55-91.

¢ THGB-(0), Lata 824-doc. 23, Ferraz to Olinda (3 Nov. 1858).

7 J. L. W. Rohe, Verdade d respeito da realisacio da colonisacio no Brazil (Hamburg:
Typographia de J. J. Nobiling, 1858).
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trumpet.”®® Erstwhile Foreign minister Ernesto Ferreira Franca also
enriched Olinda’s reflections, even though the two had a long-standing
enmity since Olinda’s attempts to foil Ferreira Franca’s senate run for
Pernambuco in 1847-1848.°° A decade later, Ferreira Franca became a
new Supreme Court minister, reaching the highest echelons of imperial
politics. And after championing peopling for years, he undertook a tour
of German lands that positioned him well to counsel government on
emigration affairs. He informed Olinda of the leading emigrant shipping
firms of Robert Miles Sloman and Johann Godeffroy; warned about
smaller agencies trying to sabotage the Brazilian recruiter, Dr. Schmidt;
and turned Olinda’s attention to Hamburg’s Emigration Authority
(Auswanderer-Behorde), a bureau that fixed prices, resolved conflicts,
and cared for migrants’ well-being ahead of departure.”® In addition,
Ferreira Franga’s remittances to the IHGB provided the most thorough
update of colonization holdings since the early 1840s, including his own
book on German-Brazilian relations published in Dresden; works on
British colonization; many more on German emigration to the United
States, Chile, Honduras, and New Zealand; and even one book on
Austrian colonization in Hungary useful to think about internal frontiers
like Parana.”*

8 THGB-(0), Lata 213-pasta 43, Paula Souza to Olinda (7 Dec. 185?); Lata 208, doc. 58,

Josef Hormeyer to Olinda (1 Jan. 1859); Joseph Hormeyer, Siidbrasilien. Ein Handbuch

zur Belebrung fiir Jedermann, insbesondere fiir Auswanderer (Hamburg: Gustav Carl

Biirger, 1857); Die Mucury-Colonieen (Hamburg: Gustav Carl Biirger, 1858);

Actenstiicke  brasilischer  Seite, betreffend die Kolonisation des Kaiserreiches.

Periodische Zeitschrift in zwanglosen Heften (Leipzig: Franz Wagner, 1859), vol. 1;

J. J. Sturz, Brasilianische Zustande und Aussichten im Jahre 1861. Mit Belegen nebst

einem Vorschlag zur Aushebung der Sklaverei und Entfernung der Schwarzen aus Nord-

Amerika (Berlin: Nicolai, 1862), xiii-xiv, 15, 57.

Paulo Henrique Fontes Cadena, “O vice-rei: Pedro de Aratjo Lima e a governanga do

Brasil no século XIX” (PhD diss., UFPE, 2018), 201-202; and “A divisdo do poder:

Pedro de Aradjo Lima, os irmdos Cavalcanti de Albuquerque e os Rego Barros entre

Pernambuco e o Centro no século XIX,” Outros Tempos 16, no. 27 (2019): 208-226.

7 AMI, POB-m¢. 126, doc. 6249, Ferreira Franca to Pedro II (5 Aug. 1858); Ernesto
Ferreira Franga, “Da popula¢do,” AIN, no. 6 (Nov. 1849): 205-213; and Brasilien und
Deutschland: Ein offener Brief an die Redactionen der deutschen Tagespresse (Leipzig:
Druck von F. A. Brockhaus, 1858).

7' THGB, Lata r18-doc. 8, Ferreira Franga to IHGB (31 Oct., 30 Dec. 1858), Sturz to Lopes
Gama (25 Sept. 1857); Lata 132, doc. 6 — “Relagdo de publicagdes sobre Estatistica e
Ciéncia da Popula¢io” (c.1858). The list included all of Edward Wakefield’s works,
Herman Merivale’s Lectures on Colonies and Colonization (London, 1841-1842),
Robert Torrens’s The Budget: On Commercial and Colonial Policy (London: Smith,
Elder & Co., 1844) and Colonial Magazine and Colonial Gazette issues. German titles
included works on emigration like Friedrich List, Die Arkreverfassung, die

69
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Olinda used these ideas to take stock of the government’s record on
companies. In draft notes, he surveyed colonization efforts in Argentina,
Mexico, Chile, Venezuela, the United States, and Australia and concen-
trated on French Algeria, where the pacification of the Kabylie in
1857 had paved the way for a specialized colonial ministry that trumped
the reformism of Saint-Simonian state officials graduated from the Ecole
Polytéchnique. The new “system to fuse French colonos with Arabs and
Moors” laid bare, for Olinda, the shortcomings of earlier Algerian colon-
ization and signaled the “uselessness of government sacrifices to sustain
companies.”
“have hereto served as the sole bases for these enterprises, founded ...
on the hope that, once colonies start out, Government is obligated to
continue protecting and subsidizing them.” Olinda concluded that “nei-
ther country nor colonos have profited from these enterprises” and that
“a commercial association . .. cannot offer the advantages that one would
think at first sight.””*

Although Olinda settled on the wisdom of terminating company sub-
sidies and directing funds instead to land-clearing activities and colonos’
initial sustenance in colonization nuclei, he took action to reinforce the
ACC by authorizing new rules to oversee its recruitment agencies. These
new measures sought to transform recruitment by offering per capita
prizes for recruiters in compliance and by making agents, shipowners,
and captains financially liable for reported abuses.”? But Olinda was not
simply giving the ACC free rein, which became clear when he also
approved new ACC statutes that gave the imperial government almost
full control of the company by allowing the prime minister to appoint the
ACC’s president and vice-president. In other words, Olinda solidified his
belief in terminating subsidies by bringing the company under direct
government oversight, if not outright control. And vyet, refusing to

“Beautiful theories and prestigious names,” he asserted,

Zwergwirthschaft und die Auswanderung (Stuttgart: J. G. Cottascher, 1842); and
Wappius, Deutsche Auswanderung.

7* THGB-(0), Lata 208-doc. 53, “Parecer nido assinado sobre os meios de promover eficaz-
mente a colonizagdo no Brasil” (9 Nov. 1858); Lata 824, doc. 14, “Meméria ndo
assinada sobre os meios de promover a colonizagio no Brasil, opinando a respeito de
Companhias colonizadoras”; Osama Abi-Mershed, Apostles of Modernity: Saint-
Simonians and the Civilizing Mission in Algeria (Stanford: Stanford University Press,
2010), 163-173.

73 Correio Mercantil, no. 12 (14 Jan. 1858).
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abandon the principle of profit, these government rules also increased per
capita prizes for adult colonos (50$) and children (30$ each).”*

Even more impactfully, Olinda swiftly enacted the first official ordin-
ance regulating emigrant voyages. The new Regulamento de transporte de
emigrantes (Emigrant Transport Ordinance) became a decisive policy
benchmark not only because it empowered the Brazilian government to
oversee migrant transports but also to carry out its own. Its blueprint
originated in a budget law for 1856-1857 that mandated greater over-
sight over colonization and was greatly enhanced by Olinda’s decades-
long engagement with the colono trade. The Ordinance allowed Olinda to
bring Brazilian policies in line with international efforts to improve mari-
time conveyance of contract workers such as the British inquiries into
coolie transports seeking to curtail mortality rates as thousands of labor-
ers shipped out of India following the Sepoy rebellion of 1857.7% Olinda’s
Ordinance established a ratio of one colono per ton and minimum space
dimensions for every passenger. It regulated food rations, kitchens, beds,
and medical personnel according to passenger load and instituted sanitary
measures like separating animals from humans. For the first time in
Brazilian law, the Ordinance also restricted entry of physically or psycho-
logically disabled individuals unaccompanied by relatives. Captains would
have to produce detailed passenger manifests and preserve copies of con-
tracts for all colonos onboard. Stringent supervision and the application of
fines for violations fell under the Lands Directorate but also involved the
Navy’s surgeon-general, the Navy auditor, and the customs director. The
Ordinance deterred would-be offenders with fines that doubled emigrant
travel costs and incentivized those in charge of applying it with a gratuity
for every case resulting in fines. Significantly, the Ordinance left its mark
until the end of the Empire as its compliance became an obligatory precon-
dition for all colonization contracts.”®

Olinda’s actions reined in the private business of colonization for
governmental purposes but proved insufficient to revert the tide against
emigration to Brazil. Sturz himself, who angrily resigned from his post in
1858, referred to “brain-burned Olinda” and to the “oligarchical and
exploitative principles” that guided him, likening the Emigrant Transport

74 Decree no. 2158, Decree no. 2159 (1 May) CLIB (1858), vol. 1, 225-243.

75 Law no. 840 (15 Sept.), CLIB (1855), vol. 16, pt. I, 36—47; Decree no. 2168 (1 May)
CLIB (1858), vol. 19, pt. I, 276-284; Clare Anderson, “Convicts and Coolies:
Rethinking Indentured Labor in the Nineteenth Century,” Slavery and Abolition 30, no
1 (2009): 93-109.

7¢ AN, GIFI 4B-13-vols. 1-3 includes contracts citing the ordinance from 1870 to 1890.
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Ordinance to a police ordinance for Helots.”” More substantive
discussions took place in the Berlin-based Zentral-Verein fiir deutsche
Auswanderungs-und Kolonisations-Angelegenheiten (Central Association
for German Emigration and Colonization Matters), which gave a space to
the grievances of Prussian mercenaries who fought for Brazil against
Rosas and even to one much older veteran of Pedro I’s Cisplatina War,
Samuel Gottfried Kerst, who chastised Brazilian attempts to replace
enslaved Africans with German proletarians and called instead for a
German national colonization in Uruguay.”® The Brazilian press reported
on some of the Zentral-Verein’s demands, including that German colonos
receive “all the rights and liberties afforded to the Brazilian-born.””°
Parand’s earlier cabinet had kept abreast of some of the developments
orbiting the Zentral-Verein, particularly the Hapsburg Empire’s attempts
to cut exits to Brazil in 1853 as part of a neo-absolutist awakening under
the new monarch, Francis Joseph, and an interior minister disinclined to
police another wave of exiles as in 1848.%° And yet, up until the Ibicaba
and Beaucourt scandals, Brazilian statesmen did not fully grasp the
weight of the Zentral-Verein nor of its spirited and diverse membership,

77 Sturz, Brasilianische Zustinde, 15.

78 This association derived from the Society for Centralization of German Emigration and
Colonization (Verein zur Zentralisation deutscher Auswanderung und Kolonisation) that
emerged out of the 1848 Frankfurt assembly of regional emigrant associations. On its
membership, see “O Brasil e a Alemanha em relagio a colonisa¢io,” Correio Mercantil,
no. 316 (13 Nov. 1853); Peter Marschalck, Deutsche Uberseewanderung im 19.
Jahrhundert: Ein Beitrag zur soziologischen Theorie der Bevolkerung (Stuttgart: Ernst
Klett, 1973), 21—22. On regional branches before the Frankfurt meeting, see Hartmut
Bickelmann, “Auswanderungsvereine, Auswandererverkehr und Auswandererfiirsorge in
Deutschland 1815-1930,” in Auswanderungsagenturen und Auswanderungsvereine im
19. und 20. Jabrbundert, ed. Hartmut Bickelmann and Agnes Bretting (Stuttgart: Franz
Steiner Verlag, 1991), 91-262. Samuel Gottfried Kerst, Die Linder am Uruguay: Vortrag
gehalten in der Sitzung des Berliner Vereins zur Centralisation deutscher Auswanderung
und Colonisation am 8 October 1851 (Berlin: J. Sittenfeld, 1851); and Ueber
Brasilianische Zustinde der Gegenwart, mit Bezug auf die deutsche Auswanderung nach
Brasilien und das System der brasilianischen Pflanzer, den Mangel an afrikanischen
Sklaven durch deutsche Proletarier zu ersetzen (Berlin: Beit und Comp., 1853).

79 T. K., “O Brazil e a Allemanha relativamente a colonisa¢do,” JC, nos. 26, 31, 34, 38, 53,

58, 63, 64 (26, 31 Jan., 3, 7, 22, 27 Feb., 4, § Mar. 1853).

AN, Agricultura-IA®153, 4th Empire section secretary José Bonificio Nascentes de

Azambuja to Parand (6 June 1853); John Deak, Forging a Multinational State: State

Making in Imperial Austria from the Enlightenment to the First World War (Stanford:

Stanford University Press, 2015), 99-136; Pieter Judson, The Habsburg Empire: A New

History (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 2016), 218-268; Christos

Aliprantis, “Transnational Policing after the 1848-1849 Revolutions: The Habsburg

Empire in the Mediterranean,” European History Quarterly 50, no. 3 (2020): 412—437.
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which included Hamburg’s shipping magnate Robert Sloman and
Gottingen luminary Dr. Wappaus; HCV president Schroder and secretary
W. Hiihn; colonization empresarios involved in Nicaragua, Costa Rica,
Mexico, and California; and the Prussian War and Interior ministers,
Eduard von Bonin and August von der Heydt.

In 1859, with Zentral-Verein discussions and the Swiss inquiries in the
background, von der Heydt issued a watershed decree halting emigration
to Brazil. The Heydt Rescript of 3 November 1859 forbade any direct
financing of emigrant voyages as well as any related propaganda riling up
young men to take leave for Rio. The measure, which remained in effect in
unified Germany until 1898, drastically reduced the number of migrants
arriving to Brazil from Hamburg and Bremen and ravaged the HCV,
which struggled to meet its migrant quotas until it reorganized in
1897 as the new Hanseatic Colonial Society. Coming in the wake of a
forceful wave of reformist measures in Brazil, the Heydt Rescript
appeared in its face to be an unexpected repudiation of Olinda’s efforts
to rein in the colono trade and bring colonization companies into line.

However, the Rescript was not a reflex response to the abuses at
Ibicaba, as scholars have long thought. Its intention, rather, was to retain
military personnel at a time when Prussia most needed its soldiers.
Napoléon Il and Franz Joseph I had just agreed to the Treaty of
Villafranca finalizing the Franco-Piedmontese war in which France had
supported the Count of Cavour’s bid to make the Kingdom of Piedmont-
Sardinia independent from Habsburg control. With enemy troops mobil-
ized but suddenly disengaged from conflict, von der Heydt understood
that the time had come for Prussia to stand guard. As Wilhelm of Prussia
became prince regent during his brother Friedrich Wilhelm IV’s deathbed,
the replacement of War minister von Bonin with Albrecht von Roon, who
lionized military reform, refashioned Prussian forces. After debates raged
for much of 1858 and 1859, “the money was there but the able-bodied
recruits were not.”®" Minister Roon pushed to modify the Service Law
facilitating recruitments and absorb the militia known as the Landwehr
into formal army regiments. Meanwhile, von der Heydt sought to con-
tribute by stalling emigrant exits to destinations that had historically
absorbed Prussian recruits.

Still, Brazilian colonization did not grind to a stop in spite of the Heydt
Rescript. The arrival of 5§81 colonos from Portugal and Italy heralded an

81 Dierk Walter, “Roon, the Prussian Landwehr, and the Reorganization of 1859-1860,”
War in History 16, no. 3 (2009): 269-297.
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upward trend ahead of December, the peak month for migrant arrivals.®*
In Bahia, some 105 colonos arrived in 1858-1859, many of them minors
headed to Engenho Novo, a sugar estate where 15 colonos had already
repaid their debts by 1860. Building on these low-key attainments, Bahian
planters sought the ACC to request colonos from Saxony, contacting the
appropriate consul while asking for government favors for a national
colony on the Rio Pardo, signaling the growing acceptance of mixed
colonies.®> Meanwhile, after taking over the ACC, authorities in Rio
continued to goad fazendeiros to hire colonos in order to consolidate
demand.®* The new Agriculture ministry established in 1860 took over
colonization matters and kept Hormeyer on its roster so that, under the
new minister’s orders, he could go after a “hostile” Bremen gazette
publishing “calumnious and indolent falsities.” With Sturz decamping
to the United States and intermittently attacking Brazil, Hormeyer was
the last scribe standing until minister Felizardo also destined funds to the
vice-consul in Porto for the purpose of “flattening out any remaining
obstacles for Portuguese emigration to the Empire.”®’

Colonization companies were less resilient than the colono trade in
general. The ACC dragged on by handling multiple logistics of migrant
arrvials. In 1860, it redirected at least 130 incoming German colonos and
others from Mucury to Rio Grande do Sul, exploiting ACC’s close
relationship with the province established thanks to ACC president
Muritiba’s conservative connections to the prior provincial president,
Angelo Muniz, who rose to the Empire ministry.*® The ACC continued
to welcome incomers at the Bom Jesus hostel until at least 1863, the last
years for which any information is available. By then, it had imported
5,908 colonos and managed the disembarkation and lodging of another
3,938 imported by the government. Requests for colono and foreign
offers for emigration drives continued to arrive after 1859, including

AN, GIFI-6]-88, Police chief Isidoro Borges Monteiro to minister Angelo Muniz da Silva
Ferraz (10 Nov. 1859).

APEB, Agricultura-mg. 4608, “Relagdo de colonos” (12 Feb. 1858); Joaquim José de
Aratjo Fonseca to provincial president BA (1861); Claiton Melo Jones, “Vem ai a
imigracdo: expectativas, propostas e efetivacdes da imigragdo na Bahia (1816-1900)”
(MA thesis, UFBA, 2014), 32-34.

APER]J-PP, Secretaria-ooo7, mg. 9, Sérgio Teixeira de Macedo to provincial president R]
(4 Aug. 1859).

AN, Agricultura-IA®8, Felizardo to Hormeyer (23 Oct. 1861); Felizardo to Brazilian vice-
consul in Porto (7 Nov. 1861).

8¢ AHRS, cx. 20-mg¢. 38, Muritiba to Angelo Muniz (19 Jan. 1859); ACC secretary Manoel
Teixeira Coimbra to RS president Joaquim Anténio Fernandes Ledo (8 Jan. 1860).
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one in 1862 from the Frankfurt Society for the Protection of Emigrants
asking for information on existing colonies and available lands. But the
ACC never regained the vitality of its early days. In 1863, its third
president, Borges Monteiro, reported on the closure of the Porto agency
due to its runaway debts and inability to meet colono quotas on account
of increased Portuguese vigilance over underaged emigrants. Surprisingly,
the ACC still issued its ninth round of dividend payments to shareholders,
which at § contos was one of the highest yet and brought the total profits
produced by the company to almost 32 contos. At that rate, the ACC
would have generated the equivalent of its initial government loan within
a decade.

This bounty had Olinda to thank for. After seeing his cabinet sink,
Olinda strove to secure its colonization-reformist thrust. A year later at
the Conselho, Olinda partook in arguments over a credit approved in
1856 allowing government to spend up to six thousand contos in
colonization. Because funds remained as the credit expired and financial
commitments tied to the credits had yet to be fulfilled, the Conselho had
to determine whether the funds could be used beyond their initial dead-
line, even though an affirmative response amounted to extending one
cabinet’s policies beyond its incumbency. Olinda claimed that any portion
of the credit committed to a specified expense within the valid period did
in fact authorize spending beyond any deadline in order to meet those
commitments. The law, he emphasized, did not state that expenditures
had to be completed within the stipulated three-year window. Because it
“fell upon Government to consult the interests of colonization so as to
determine the time window for their realization,” the ACC could in effect
continue to receive government subsidies tied to the 1856 credit. Olinda’s
patronage thus carried on beyond his cabinet thanks to a deft opinion
joined by ex-ACC president Monte Alegre and Limpo de Abreu, the
minister who publicized the SPC’s statutes in 1836.%7

Olinda’s generosity did not extend to the Mucury Company, however.
Even though Ottoni sat on the board of the Banco do Brasil, his company
depended entirely on government aid.®® After settling 1,013 colonos,
Ottoni asked the government for an extension of the terms of contract

87 IHGB-(0), Lata 205-doc. 50, “Parecer sobre utilizacio de crédito para despesas com
colonizacdo, depois de expirado o prazo determinado pelo respectivo decreto” (3
Nov. 1859); Decree no. 885 (4 Oct. 1856), CLIB (1856), vol. 17, pt. L, 59.

88 Thiago Fontanelas Rosado Gambi, “O banco da Ordem: politica e financas no império
brasileiro (1853-1866)” (PhD diss., USP, 2010), 99-110, 499—505.
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and an advance on a previously agreed subsidy in late 1858, but Olinda
responded curtly. The Mucury contract signed at the end of 1856, only
months apart from the ACC’s credit decree, entitled Ottoni to a 300-
conto loan to be disbursed in equal installments over three years. Near the
end of 1858, Ottoni had received only 70 contos. But because he had
surpassed his annual colono quota of 1,000 and sorely required add-
itional funding, he requested that the remaining portion of the loan be
made available to fulfill ongoing expenses. Counseled by Felizardo,
Olinda took a reserved approach, agreeing to advance no more than a
hundred contos per year, as stipulated, and with disbursements directly
tethered to colono arrival rates. The “small sum estimated to promote
colonization,” Olinda explained, “demands that the strictest economy be
observed.”®® Olinda had shown no shortage of means to keep the ACC
afloat. As Mucury’s agents in Leipzig reported to Ottoni, the Brazilian
government authorized the ACC to recruit a thousand colonos with travel
costs paid by Brazilian diplomats in Lisbon, Hamburg, Antwerp, and
other ports. Recognizing that they “could not provide large advancements
as they do,” Ottoni’s men concluded that “any who wish to emigrate to
Brazil will preferably go to the ACC.”°° As his agents lost ground, Ottoni
bore the implicit brunt of Olinda’s preference for the ACC.

Withheld funds came as a death sentence for the Mucury Company,
with Olinda’s admonishing tone a further reminder of the true partial
nature of the post-conciliation state. In Ottoni’s own telling, recent colono
cohorts purveyed by the Land Directorate and the ACC had brought
chaos to Mucury’s colonies. Olinda could not patronize another enter-
prise prone to uprisings or diplomatic inquiries.”* In 1860, Finance
minister Silva Ferraz effectively shuttered the Company by canceling the
government’s commitments, coinciding almost perfectly with Ottoni’s
failed electoral run for a Chamber seat for Minas. In a detailed final
report to shareholders, Ottoni exculpated himself from the Company’s
fate. He then published an incendiary tract against the electoral reform of
1860 that cleared his name after his defeat.

8 THGB, Lata 824-doc. 20, Ottoni to Olinda (12 Sept. 1858), Olinda to Ottoni (22
Sept. 1859); Johann Jakob von Tschudi, Reisen durch Siid-Amerika (Leipzig: F. A.
Brockhaus, 1866), vol. 2, 233.

°° THGB, Lata 824, doc. 20, Robert Schlobach and Morguenstern to Ottoni (19
Mar. 1858).

91 Teodfilo Ottoni, Relatdrio apresentado aos accionistas da Companhia do Mucury no dia
10 de maio de 1860 (Rio de Janeiro: Typ. do Correio Mercantil, 1860).
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In the tract, Ottoni invoked his 13 years of experience at the helm of
the Mucury Company to get credit for opening communications in land-
locked Minas, and laid bare his expectation that the nascent parishes
around Filadelfia would provide electoral clout. Surely, the earlier elect-
oral reform of 1855, which facilitated the creation of smaller districts,
would have allowed Ottoni and his supporters to enter the Chamber en
masse, propelled by the new settlements in the Mucuri valley. But the
redistricting of the province mandated by the 1860 electoral reform
undercut that expected support in those places where only voters could
“prove whether the Mucury Company’s empresario is a speculator or a
patriot.” Ottoni raged against the sure victory denied him but presaged a
vengeful return: “If a partial vote tore me from there, a thousand impar-
tial votes may designate me for another seat in which, uncovering ... the

”9% Colonos elsewhere had

oligarchy, I will have the glory to serve.
already mobilized socially and politically, establishing mutual aid soci-
eties and organizing against electoral irregularities, as a group of 13 5 colo-
nos from Petrépolis did when they were intentionally excluded from their
district’s qualifying lists.”?> Olinda accompanied these developments
through Conselho discussions on the rights of naturalized Brazilians, in
particular those born of foreign colonos, and so he was perfectly aware of
the political implications of peopling the Mucuri and did not look kindly
on the electoral weaponization of colonization frontiers.”*

The ACC and the Mucury Company embodied a bourgeoning, more
streamlined colonization entrepreneurialism aiming to correct the failings
of prior efforts. Yet the inevitable scandals that accompanied their activ-
ities reinforced their reliance on government support and resulted in
divergent destinies that laid bare enduring tensions beyond the concili-
ation period. Conservatives and moderates who shared Olinda’s vision of
a centralized monarchical state and strong regulatory prerogatives
obtained government backing, while those with a more radical track

°* Decree no. 2636 (5 Sept.), CLIB (1860), vol. 1, 397; Teéfilo Ottoni, Circular dedicada
aos srs. eleitores de senadores pela provincia de Minas-Geraes no quatriennio actual e
especialmente dirigida aos srs. eleitores de diputados pelo 2° districto eleitoral da mesma
provincia para a préxima legislatura (Rio de Janeiro: Typ. do Correio Mercantil, 1860).

93 AN, Diversos-Conselho, cx. 522, env.1, doc. 4 (20 Oct. 1857); cx. 528, pac. III, env. 2,
doc. 48.

9% Atas do Conselho do Estado, Act (1o Aug. 1857).
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record who could use colonization to build new constituencies fell short
of receiving similar treatment despite their efforts to comply with, and
even exceed, contractual expectations. Dismissing Ottoni allowed Olinda
to reestablish what he understood as a political balance. Lanced on every
side by conservatives who protested the financial reforms of his liberal
minister Bernardo de Souza Franco or the prioritization of colono recruit-
ment over land surveying, the question of who to support and to what
extent hung over Olinda’s head like the sword of Damocles.

Forced to choose, Olinda ended up favoring the ACC over the Mucury
Company, spelling the latter’s doom and flagging that dormant political
enmities could resurface after conciliation. But the problems raised by
colonization enterprises forced Olinda to adopt more nuanced decisions
that defied partisanship. When foreign governments recriminated
Brazilian empresarios for abusing colonos, Olinda closed ranks around
his countrymen and adamantly defended another liberal firm, Vergueiro
& Co. Eventually, Olinda’s cabinet dissolved. But his interventions in
colonization matters had immense repercussions. The product of a
damage-control response and in-depth study of colonization, Olinda’s
Emigrant Transport Ordinance became a mainstay of colonization con-
tracts up to the end of the Brazilian Empire in 1889. Through it, Olinda
put forth a potent claim for regulation that sounded both the limits and
possibilities of state intervention in the lives of companies and in the
colono trade.

Colonization defied narrow definitions of government action and con-
fronted cabinets with a true litmus test on their impact, raising key
questions about governmental power, responsibilities, and capacities.
How far could the government go in financing private enterprises through
direct subsidies? And when should the imperial state step in as local
incidents mushroomed into international recriminations? Olinda
inherited these dilemmas together with the conciliation’s expectations of
a government that balanced conservative and liberal creeds. His responses
ultimately demonstrated that government would only do so much to
mobilize colonization enterprises. Rather, it would develop the regula-
tions to help colonization companies flourish as long as they responded to
its interests, and to rein them in when they did not.
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